FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 24 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By *JC*
Chief Deputy Clerk

MARK D. SCHWAB,)
)
Appellant,)
)
vs.)
)
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
Appellee.)
_____)

CASE NO. 80,289

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY
FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0267082
112-A Orange Avenue
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 14, 1991, the grand jury in and for Brevard County returned an indictment charging Appellant with one count of first degree murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (1989), one count of capital sexual battery in violation of Section 794.011(2), Florida Statutes (1989), and one count of kidnapping in violation of Sections 787.01(1)(a)(2) and 787.01(3)(a)(2), Florida Statutes (1989). (R4184-4186) Appellant filed an affidavit and request for a non-jury trial. (R4197-4199) The state also filed a waiver of jury trial. (R4207) This request was granted. (R20)

Appellant filed several pretrial motions to suppress evidence seized from Appellant's car and his house, statements and admissions made to law enforcement officers, and intercepted communications. (R4323-4324, 4325-4327, 4328-4331, 4333-4334, 4339-4340, 4370-4371) A hearing on the motions to suppress was

conducted on February 5-7, 1992, resulting in these motions being denied. (R2154,2297-2300,2780,4379-4385) The trial court did suppress Appellant's statements to police officers immediately made upon his arrest. (R4379-4385)

Appellant filed pretrial motions in limine to prevent statements of the defendant from being presented prior to proof of the corpus delicti particularly of the sexual battery offense, a motion to sever the sexual battery offense from the other offenses, and a motion to dismiss the sexual battery charge on the grounds that the state would be unable to prove this charge. (R4255-4256,4398-4399,4400-4401,4404-4405) Following a hearing these motions were also denied. (R4008,4012) Following the state's filing of its notice of intent to admit similar fact evidence, Appellant filed a motion in limine to prevent this evidence from being admitted. (R4411-4415) Appellant also filed a motion requesting a separate judge to hear this motion in limine since the trial was to proceed before the judge only. (R4460-4461) At the hearing on these motions, the trial court ruled that there was no need for another judge and that the court would hear the evidence at the time of trial and if not relevant would not consider it. (R4024-4030)

Appellant filed a motion to recuse the state attorney's office on the grounds that Assistant State Attorney Chris White had been in a position of advising Appellant as an attorney. (R4418-4420) The trial court denied this finding no legal or ethical basis upon which to disqualify the state attorney's

office. (R3992) The Public Defender's Office filed a motion to withdraw when it became apparent that members of the office were to be called as witnesses for the purposes of admitting a highly prejudicial letter into evidence. (R4443-4444) This motion was denied. (R3962,4455)

Appellant proceeded to trial on May 18-22, 1992, before the Honorable Edward J. Richardson, Circuit Judge. (R1-2080) At the conclusion of the trial, Judge Richardson found Appellant guilty as charged on all counts. (R2079-2080,4491-4493) The penalty phase was conducted on May 23, 1992, again before Judge Richardson. (R2954-3426) Appellant filed a motion for new trial on June 1, 1992, which was later amended. (R4550-4551,4626-4627, 4630-4631) Following a hearing the trial court denied this motion. (R3682,4632) Appellant filed a motion to declare Section 921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes (1989), unconstitutional. (R4628-4629) Following a hearing on this motion the trial court denied it. (R3630-3635)

On July 1, 1992, Appellant again appeared before Judge Richardson for sentencing. (R4073-4115) Judge Richardson first determined that there was sufficient evidence to support a probation violation and revoked Appellant's probation. (R4076-4077) Over defense objection the trial court permitted the family of the victim to make statements. (R4078-4079) However, Judge Richardson stated that in determining the penalty for first degree murder conviction he did not consider anything said or done on that day. (R4108) Judge Richardson adjudicated

Appellant guilty and sentenced him to death for the first degree murder conviction and consecutive life imprisonment with a minimum mandatory twenty-five years for the sexual battery conviction. Appellant was additionally sentenced to life consecutive to the sexual battery sentence on the kidnapping charge. With regard to the offense for which Appellant was on probation, Appellant was sentenced to life imprisonment concurrent with the sentence imposed on the kidnapping charge. (R4147-4152,4636-4642) Judge Richardson filed written findings of fact in support of the death penalty. (R4643-4668A)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on July 29, 1992. (R4673-4674) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R4671-4672,4689-4690)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Vicki Rios-Martinez testified that her son Junny who was born May 6, 1979, disappeared on April 18, 1991. (R318) Approximately one month earlier, Junny's picture was in the paper. (R319) On March 22, 1991, the family received a phone call from someone identifying himself as Malcolm Denmark from the Florida Today newspaper. (R338) The man said that he had seen the picture of Junny and wanted to do an article about him. (R338) After speaking with the family several times, Denmark agreed to meet them between baseball games the following day. (R340-341) On March 23, 1991, at 4:00 p.m., a man identified as Appellant came to the Martinez house. (R321,342) Appellant introduced himself as Mark Dean, an associate of Malcolm Denmark. (R342) Appellant told them that Denmark had been given an assignment and that he would be conducting the interview with Junny. (R342) Although Appellant might have been wearing a badge on his pocket, the Martinez's did not ask for any identification. (R343) Appellant had a spiral notebook which contained handwritten questions. (R343) Appellant asked all kinds of questions concerning Junny's interests, his school, and any problems he might be having. (R344-345) Junny showed Appellant his trophies and pictures after which Appellant told him that he wasn't used to working with kids like him. (R344-346) Appellant told him that he was a big brother and was used to working with delinquent children. (R346) Appellant was quite impressed with Junny and said he would like to do another story

perhaps for USA Today. (R347) Appellant told them that he would have to do a photo shoot to meet a 12:00 noon Monday deadline.

(R347) Appellant accompanied the Martinez family to the baseball game but he stayed only twenty to thirty minutes. (R350-351) Mrs. Martinez suggested to Appellant that he might want to come to the beach on Sunday and get pictures of Junny playing the drums. (R352) Appellant never showed up at the beach but called that night to tell them the photo shoot for Monday was canceled and the USA Today article had been continued for approximately two weeks. (R352)

The following Monday, Appellant called the Martinez's to say that he no longer worked for Florida Today but was working for a surfing magazine entitled Surf. (R352) Shortly thereafter, Mrs. Martinez received a letter from Appellant in which he stated that he had never met a family like them and that they were special people and he saw a lot of love in their family. (R353-365) On Easter Sunday, Appellant visited with Mrs. Martinez and they discussed the letter he had written and Appellant told her about his new job. (R358,365) Appellant told Mrs. Martinez that he might be able to help Junny with his surfing and told her to have Junny get a resume and pictures together and he would take them to his contacts. (R374) On April 3, 1991, Appellant called and said that Gecko, a surfing concern, was interested in Junny. (R375) Mrs. Martinez compiled a resume and some pictures of Junny which Appellant picked up on April 5, 1991. (R376) Appellant wanted to take Junny to Daytona

Beach to meet the people from Gecko but he was unable to make the arrangements. (R376) On April 9, 1991, Appellant came over to the Martinez home and said that Gecko had accepted Junny. (R377) Appellant brought T-shirts and told Junny to pick out the colors he wanted for his surfboard. (R377)

On April 11, 1991, Appellant came to the Martinez house and presented Mrs. Martinez with a letter purported to be an acceptance letter from Gecko. (R379) Appellant also brought sponsorship contracts and a list of surfing competitions that Junny would be entering. (R382) Appellant asked again about taking Junny to Daytona Beach and it was determined that Mrs. Martinez would accompany Junny and Appellant to Daytona on Sunday, March 14, 1991. (R386-387) At 10:00 a.m. that day, Mrs. Martinez received a phone call and it was decided that they would not be going to Daytona Beach. (R388)

On Thursday, April 18, 1991, Junny woke up early and left for school at approximately 7:00 a.m. (R389-390) Junny was scheduled to return home around 3:00 p.m. but he did not. (R391) Junny had a baseball game scheduled for 6:00 p.m. that evening but when Mrs. Martinez went to the game at approximately 7:00 p.m., Junny was not there. (R392,396) Mrs. Martinez asked her husband where Junny was but he did not know. (R397) Mrs. Martinez went home looking for Junny on the way but never located him. (R397-398) Mrs. Martinez tried to call Appellant but was unable to reach him. (R398,412) Later that evening the Martinez's called the police and reported that Junny was missing.

(R413) Mrs. Martinez has not seen Junny alive since that date.

(R413)

Patricia Roghelia works at Clearlake Middle School where Junny Martinez was a student. (R1330) On April 18, 1991, at approximately 2:15 p.m. she received a telephone call from a man who said he was Junny Martinez's father and wanted to leave a message for him. (R1331-1335) The message was that he wanted Junny not to go home on the bus but instead to meet him at the baseball field. (R1336) Ms. Roghelia called Junny's classroom and had him come down to the office where she gave him the message. (R1337) Junny then returned to class. (R1338)

Katie Keith, a schoolmate of Junny's, saw Junny after school on April 18, 1991, as she was walking home. (R1343-1344) Junny was walking towards the ball field so Katie waited for him so Junny could walk with her. As they walked together, Thomas Wegley, another classmate, saw them and took a picture of them. (R1351-1352) When Katie reached the street where she turns to go to her home, Junny continued towards the ball field. (R1346) Katie saw Junny jump a fence to the ball field and did not see him again after that. (R1346-1347) Thomas Wegley rode his bike to Stradley Park and saw Junny there with a tall man and they were getting out of a U-Haul truck. (R1353-1354) The man was tall, thin, and had brown hair, and was carrying a clipboard. (R1354) The man and Junny walked up to the pay phone by the ladies bathroom where the man used the phone. (R1354-1355) At this point Junny looked fine. (R1357) Wegley left the field and

when he returned the U-Haul was gone. (R1355)

Barbara Golden, another classmate of Junny Martinez, also saw him walking to the ballpark on the day he disappeared. (R1816-1817) As Junny was walking some man came out of the bushes and started to chase him. (R1817) The man was heavysset and tall and had dark hair and looked to be in his thirties. (R1817-1818) The man was approximately one car length behind Junny and after they turned a corner, Golden never saw them again. (R1818) Golden did not see Katie Keith. (R1820)

John Williams, another classmate of Junny's, saw him at the baseball field between 5:30 and 6:00 p.m. on the day he disappeared. (R1822) Williams had had baseball practice at 4:30 p.m. and saw Junny after practice was finished. (R1824) Junny was just sitting on the ground at the ball field. (R1823)

Carlos Perez, another classmate of Junny's, also saw him at the ball field on the day he disappeared. (R1937) Perez was positive that it was on the day Junny disappeared that he saw him and it was approximately 5:15 p.m. (R1937-1951) Junny was just walking around and did not appear to be in any kind of distress. (R1938) Someone was with Junny and the two of them walked into the bushes. (R1938-1939) The person with Junny came out but Junny never did. (R1938-1939) The person who was with Junny was a white male, approximately 5'10" tall wearing a white shirt and black pants. (R1946) The man had dirty blonde hair and was skinny. (R1946) Although there were other people at the park, Perez cannot say whether anyone else saw Junny. (R1950)

Perez saw no U-Haul truck at the park. (R1950)

Appellant's mother, Mary Stiffler, testified that Appellant came to live with her on March 4, 1991, after he was released from prison. (R1067) Shortly after Appellant's release from prison, he took a ten day trip to visit his relatives in Ohio. (R1071) Upon his return to Florida, Ms. Stiffler helped Appellant find a job at Honeymoon Hill Construction. (R1073) Ms. Stiffler also financed the purchase of an automobile for Appellant. (R1078) The automobile, a 1991 silver Pontiac Firebird, is registered in Ms. Stiffler's name. (R1080-1081) On Sunday, April 14, 1991, Appellant told Ms. Stiffler about a threat he had gotten the day before. (R1084) Appellant told Ms. Stiffler that he was threatened at the ABC Lounge by someone waiting outside who told him that the county was not big enough for the both of them. (R1086) This individual told Appellant that he could have Appellant back in jail within the week. (R1086) Appellant told Ms. Stiffler that he did not know this person and gave her no name. (R1087) Appellant was very frightened and thought he might go back to jail. (R1088) Ms. Stiffler told Appellant to let his probation officer know about this threat. (R1090) On the following day Appellant told his mother that he went to the probation office but his supervisor was not in. (R1092) At about 6:00 p.m. that Monday, Appellant called Ms. Stiffler at work and was very frantic. (R1093) Appellant told Ms. Stiffler that some boy had called him and said that if Appellant did not buy him a motorcycle, the boy would

call the police and say the defendant had raped him. (R1093) Appellant told his mother that he had driven past the boy's home and the police were there and therefore he was afraid that he was going to have to go back to jail. (R1093) Appellant came to his mother's office and they tried to contact the probation officer but to no avail. (R1094) Appellant went to his sex offender class that night and when he returned he said that he told the people in the class about the threats and everyone thought that he was in big trouble. (R1095) Appellant did not stay with his mother that night. (R1095) The following day, Appellant came by the house and he and his mother tried to contact an attorney. (R1097) On Wednesday, Appellant called and said he was staying at a hotel in Titusville. (R1100) Ms. Stiffler took off work and drove to Titusville where she spent the day with her son. (R1101) Appellant told his mother that he wanted to go back to Ohio. (R1101) Ms. Stiffler saw Appellant about 2:00 p.m. Thursday, April 18, 1991, for about twenty minutes. (R1108) The next time Ms. Stiffler heard from Appellant was Friday morning at about 7:30 a.m. (R1113) Ms. Stiffler told Appellant that the police were at the house asking for him with regard to a missing child. (R1116) Appellant wanted to know who it was but Ms. Stiffler only knew that the last name was Martinez. (R1117) Ms. Stiffler told Appellant that he must go and clear this up and Appellant told her that he would go to his probation officer. (R1117) Appellant called back approximately forty-five minutes later and said he was going to the probation office as soon as it

opened. (R1120) Ms. Stiffler did not hear from Appellant again. (R1121) Ms. Stiffler stated that the threat that Appellant said he received from the boy was left on the answering machine and that she had heard it. (R1125)

Beverly Kinsey, Appellant's aunt, lives in Port Washington, Ohio. (R451) She received a telephone call from Appellant on Saturday, April 20, 1991, at approximately 5:30 p.m. (R452) During this conversation Appellant described the situation which had occurred the previous two days. (R466-476) Appellant told her that he was forced by "Donald" to kidnap the child or else he would kill defendant's mother. (R469) Appellant also told Ms. Kinsey that Donald forced him at gunpoint to have sex with the child. (R476)

On Sunday, April 21, 1991, several police officers contacted Ms. Kinsey just after noon. (R477) The officers asked her about her knowledge of Appellant and his recent activities, and Ms. Kinsey told them that she spoke with Appellant the previous day. (R479) While the officers were there Appellant called again. (R480,503) The officers wanted to know who was on the phone and Ms. Kinsey told them that it was Appellant. (R482) The officers asked for permission to tape record the call and Ms. Kinsey agreed. (R484,504) In this conversation, Appellant again claimed that Donald put a gun to his head. (R566-588) Appellant told Ms. Kinsey that the child was still alive the last he had seen him. Appellant could not turn himself in until Donald was in custody because Appellant was afraid that Donald would harm

his family. (R566-588) Several times during this conversation Appellant told his aunt that he wanted this conversation to be in confidence. (R578-581) Appellant told his aunt that he would turn himself in as soon as Donald was caught. (R579-580)

After the phone call was completed, some officers asked if they could set up a tracing mechanism on the phone in the event Appellant called again. (R486) Ms. Kinsey agreed and also said they could tape again if Appellant called. (R487) At approximately 7:20 p.m. that evening, Appellant again called Ms. Kinsey. (R488) This phone conversation was also recorded and a tap and trace was conducted. (R1445,1480) During this conversation Appellant spoke of Donald again and told her that he was not sure that was his real name. (R596) Appellant told her that Donald made him touch things but that he was glad he didn't make him kill the child. (R613) Appellant also told Ms. Kinsey that Donald made him call the child's school and left a message for him to go to the baseball field after school. (R654) Donald also made Appellant go and pick up the child and bring him to the Motel 6. (R654) After approximately an hour, Ms. Kinsey could tell that Appellant was being arrested. (R489,725-726)

Appellant was arrested while he was at a pay phone at a Goshen Dairy Mart. (R1449-1451) Appellant was taken into custody without incident and placed in the FBI car. (R1453-1454) Appellant's car was then towed to a salvage company where it was searched. (R1467-1469) Sergeant Michael Blubaugh of the Cocoa Police Department met with Appellant in Ohio immediately after

his arrest. (R522-523) Blubaugh accompanied Appellant as he was taken to the detention center. (R523-524) Once they arrived at the detention center, Blubaugh arranged to get Appellant something to eat and to drink. (R524) Blubaugh then informed Appellant of his constitutional rights and had Appellant sign a waiver of rights form. (R526) Sergeant Blubaugh then conducted an interview of Appellant. During this interview, Appellant told Sergeant Blubaugh that Donald called the school and told them he was the child's father and left a message for the child to go to the baseball field after school was over. (R761-762) Appellant also told Sergeant Blubaugh that he had no idea where the child currently was but that he felt very bad about the situation.

(R815) After the statement was concluded, Appellant remained at the detention center and Sergeant Blubaugh returned to his motel.

(R541) On the next morning, Blubaugh again met with Appellant at the FBI office, again read Appellant his rights, and again had Appellant sign a waiver of rights form. (R542-543) A second interview was then conducted wherein Sergeant Blubaugh asked Appellant if he had any idea where Donald would have taken the child. Appellant told Sergeant Blubaugh that he was worried about his mother's safety since Donald knew where she lived.

Later that afternoon, Sergeant Blubaugh and Assistant State Attorney Chris White flew back to Orlando with Appellant. (R546-547) During the trip back to Brevard County, they stopped once at a 7-11. (R547) As they reached the last toll booth on the Bee-Line in Brevard County, Appellant indicated that he

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