IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

JUN 24 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

MARK D. SCHWAB,

Appellant,

٧,

CASE NO. 80,289

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #618550
210 N. Palmetto Avenue
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

introduced himself as "Tony"; he had no automobile of his own; he was with the victim for a lengthy amount of time before the attack began; he used or threatened to use binding; the attack had both a sexual and pecuniary motive; the victim suffered trauma to the neck area; the victim was transported in the victim's car; the victim was attacked at a trash pile on a dirt road and then left; Gore stole the victim's car and jewelry; he pawned the jewelry shortly after the theft; and he fled the state after the crimes in the victim's automobile and stayed with a relative or friend and represented the car as a gift. This court determined that the similarities were pervasive, dissimilarities insubstantial, and that the few dissimilarities seemed to be the result of differences in opportunities rather than differences in modus operandi. This court further found that while the common points between the two crimes may not have been sufficiently unusual when considered individually, they established a unique pattern of criminal behavior when all of the common points were considered together, so as to establish a unique modus operandi.

Likewise, the similarities between the Meyer incident and the instant crimes are pervasive. Both victims were young, male, small and blonde; Schwab made contact with both victims through their families and over several weeks established a relationship with both; both victims were lured away from their families under false pretenses after the parents had not permitted Schwab to take the victims on an outing alone with him; both victims hands were bound (Meyer was bound with electrical and Junny with duct

tape, but Schwab stated that the only thing missing from his motel room after he returned and "Donald" had left was the electrical cord from his razor); both victims' faces were covered; both were placed face down before being anally raped; a knife was used in both incidents (Meyer was threatened with a knife, and Junny's clothes were cut off of his body with a knife). As in *Gore*, the similarities establish a unique method of operation and clearly point to Schwab as the perpetrator of both crimes.

In Duckett, the evidence established the defendant's tendency to pick up young, petite women and make passes at them while he was in his patrol car at night, on duty, in his uniform. Duckett argued that the incidents involved no force or violence and involved women who were older than the victim, but this court concluded that the evidence was relevant to establish Duckett's method of operation, his identity, and a common plan, and that there were sufficient points of similarity to conclude that no Williams Rule violations occurred as to two of the incidents. Duckett, supra at 895. In the instant case, the evidence shows Schwab's tendency to acquaint himself with young, blonde boys through their families, then after establishing a certain amount of trust with the youngsters he abducts them, binds them, covers their faces and anally rapes them. As in Duckett, the evidence establishes Schwab's method of operation, his identity, and a common plan, and was properly admitted.

In Chandler, supra, the similar fact evidence was admitted solely to establish identity, and consisted of a Texas conviction

seven years prior to the murder in Florida, where the victim had been abducted, beaten and robbed, but not killed. This court determined that the similarities, considered one against the other, established a sufficiently unique pattern of criminal activity to justify admission of the evidence, and that the dissimilarities only suggested differences in opportunity rather than significant differences in method of operation. Id. at 173. Similarly, in the instant case, the similarities establish a sufficiently unique pattern o£ activity, and the dissimilarity only suggests a difference in opportunity or state of mind.

Mason, supra, also involved similar fact evidence which was used solely to establish identity. This court noted that there were several dissimilarities, including the fact that one of the crimes was a homicide and the other a rape. This court went on to acknowledge that there were many similarities between the crimes, including: the attacker entering the home through the window; arming himself with a knife; and assaulting the woman in her bedroom. It held that there were enough identifiable points of similarity and that they were unusual enough to warrant the admission into evidence. Id. at 376-77. In Kight, supra, the two offenses occurred on the same day, both victims were black cab drivers, they were taken to the same general area of town, a knife was used in both incidents, both victims were robbed, and the defendant was picked up outside a Main Street bar. court acknowledged the major dissimilarity that one of victims fortuitously escaped with his life, but further noted that under the facts, the evidence was relevant not only to identification, but also to show motive and intent, and was therefore admissible. *Id.* at 928. Again, in the instant case, there are numerous points of similarity, which made the evidence relevant to identity, motive, intent, and method of operation.

Schwab next claims that the evidence was inadmissible as to the sexual battery since there was no proof of a sexual battery against the victim in the instant case. As demonstrated in the previous point, the state presented sufficient evidence to establish corpus delicti, and in combination with Schwab's statements that he had sex with the victim, there was sufficient evidence that a sexual battery occurred. Finally, Schwab claims that even if a sexual battery occurred, identity was not an issue since he admitted the offense. As stated, the test for the admissibility of evidence is relevancy and not necessity. Craig, supra. The state certainly had the right to present evidence of identity as to the sexual battery, and the evidence was not only relevant as to the sexual battery, but also as to the kidnapping and murder. Meyer's testimony was properly admitted.

Marsh testimony

Dale Marsh was a high school sophomore, 4' 10" tall, weighed 85 pounds, and had blonde hair when he encountered Schwab as he was walking to school in 1986 (R 1641). Schwab was in a bank parking lot with the hood of his truck up, and called Marsh over to help him start the truck (R 1642). The truck started right up, and Schwab asked Marsh if he wanted a ride to school (R 1642). Schwab pulled out of the parking lot, grabbed Marsh by

his hair, pulled his head into his lap, put a knife to his throat and began driving toward the Kennedy Space Center (R 1644). At the Pine Island section of Merritt Island, Schwab pulled the truck next to a tree so that the passenger door could not be opened, and told Marsh to take his shorts off (R 1645). Schwab had Marsh masturbate himself, then Schwab unsuccessfully attempted fellatio on Marsh, and after a half hour or so told Marsh to put his shorts back on (R 1645). Schwab told Marsh he would kill him if he told anybody, then dropped Marsh back off at school (R 1646). Two days later Schwab pulled up as Marsh was walking down the street, gave him twenty dollars, and thanked him for not telling (R 1647).

The trial court stated that this evidence was not similar for identification purposes, but was relevant to show intent, lack of mistake/lack of duress, knowledge and motive. Again, this evidence, i.e., Schwab's luring of a small, young, blonde male into his vehicle under seemingly innocent circumstances, for the purpose of obtaining sexual gratification through force, is certainly relevant to Schwab's method of operation, motivation and lack of mistake. As the trial court found, it was also relevant to rebut Schwab's duress defense, as it shows that Schwab is capable of formulating and carrying out such actions on his own initiative.

Even if the admission of any of this testimony was error, appellee contends that it was harmless at worst, where the other evidence was overwhelming and the trial court specifically acknowledged the limited uses of collateral crimes evidence.

State*DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Schwab fabricated a scenario in order to gain the trust of his victim and the victim's family (R 317-387). On April 18, 1991, the victim received a message at school to meet his dad at the ball fields (R 1331-36). The victim was last seen April 18 with a tall thin man getting into a U Haul truck (R 1353-54). Schwab's mother's telephone credit card bill reflected two calls from the ball field to the Martinez home. Schwab had rented a U Haul at 1:00 p.m. on April 18, and it was returned the next day with 153 miles on it (R 1279, 1286-88). On April 17, 1991, Schwab rented a room at a Motel 6 and paid for two nights (R 1245-46, 1499). A receipt found in Schwab's car reflected the purchase of a footlocker on April 18, 1991 (R 1547-65). The victim's body was found in a footlocker (R 84). A piece of duct tape in the trunk with the body contained Schwab's fingerprint (R 190-95). Schwab left the state, and contacted his aunt once on April 20 and twice on April 21 (R 469-88). Schwab admitted involvement in the victim's disappearance and sexual battery, but claimed he was forced to participate by "Donald" (R 469-88). Schwab's attorney letter from "Donald" which contained Schwab's fingerprints (R 1719-22). After he was arrested in Ohio, Schwab gave several statements admitting involvement but again implicating Donald (R 526, 542-43). After returning to Florida, Schwab led the police on several searches for the victim's body, which was located on the third search (R 550-52). In light of this overwhelming evidence, the erroneous admission of similar fact evidence must be considered harmless at worst.

POINT 5

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED SCHWAB'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHERE SCHWAB INITIATED ALL CONTACT WITH LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS.

Schwab contends that the trial court erred in suppressing his last statement to Sergeant Blubaugh, since he had invoked his right to counsel during the ride from the Orlando Airport to the police station in Brevard County. Schwab claims that his statement to assistant state attorney Chris White was an "outright" request for counsel, and that everything that occurred after that should have been suppressed. Appellee contends that the trial court was correct in denying the motion to suppress, and even if error occurred it was harmless at worst.

A trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress is presumed to be correct. Jones v. State, 612 So. 2d 1370 (Fla. 1992). The trial court found that the brief conversation between Mr. White and Schwab had been initiated by Schwab, and that Mr. White did not attempt to advise Schwab (R 4381). The court found that at no time during the trip from Orlando to Cocoa did Schwab ever make an unequivocal request for counsel, and that even if Schwab's statement to White amounted to a "request" for counsel, it was "equivocal" at best (R 4382). The trial court stated that there can be no better method of clarifying a defendant's intent than by reading him his rights again, which is precisely what Sergeant Blubaugh did, and Schwab expressed his desire to continue cooperating with the police (R 4382). The trial court found that this waiver was voluntarily made (R 4382). The trial

court also found that any possible "taint" from Mr. White's response was removed by Schwab's own voluntary actions, and that there was no effort to interrogate Schwab at that time (R 4381). The trial court found that Schwab's statements to Sergeant Blubaugh on April 24 were made after Schwab voluntarily signed a waiver of rights form (R 4383).

Schwab acknowledges that he had voluntarily waived his rights on two prior occasions in Ohio, but contends that his statement to White was an outright request for counsel, and that everything occurring after that should have been suppressed. Schwab also acknowledges that no further interrogation occurred after his conversation with White (IB 51). Schwab does not contest any of the other facts found by the trial court, and appellee contends that under these facts, which are fully supported by the record, Schwab's last statement to Sergeant Blubaugh was properly admitted, as was all of the other evidence.

Appellee first contends that it is not even necessary to determine whether or not Schwab requested counsel for several reasons. As to the fact that Schwab led police to the body, the record clearly demonstrates that Schwab initiated all conversations on this issue, and further demonstrates that there was no interrogation on this issue. At the last toll booth before Cocoa Beach, Schwab told Blubaugh that he wanted to talk further about the incident (R 548). Blubaugh read Schwab his rights again, and Schwab indicated that he wanted to talk (R 548). Schwab said that he wanted to check a place on Merritt Island for the victim's body (R 548). Blubaugh took Schwab to

that location, but nothing was found so they returned to the police station (R 549). Schwab then said he thought the body could be located in Canaveral Groves, so he was given a map and they searched the Canaveral Groves area for about an hour but found nothing (R 551). They returned to the police station, and Blubaugh told Schwab that he was leaving (R 552). Schwab asked for one more chance, and said he could help them locate the body (R 552). On this third search, that Schwab requested after Blubaugh attempted to leave for the evening, the body was found (R 553). Blubaugh and Schwab returned to the police department, Blubaugh again advised Schwab of his rights, and Schwab signed another (his third) waiver (R 55-56).

Schwab initiated contact and volunteered all information after his conversation with White. In Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 4777 (1981), the Court held that a suspect who has expressed a desire to deal with the police only through counsel is not subject to further interrogation unless he himself initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police. Edwards does not foreclose finding a waiver of Fifth Amendment protections where the accused initiates the discussions with authorities. Minnick v. Mississippi, 111 S.Ct. 486 (1990). court has recognized that volunteered statements not made in response to an officer's questioning are not barred by the Fifth Christopher v. State, 583 So. 2d 642 (Fla. 1991). Amendment. court has also recognized that nothing prevents an accused from changing his mind and volunteering information after previously invoking the right to counsel. Durocher v. State, 596 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 1992).

As in Durocher and Christopher, it was Schwab who initiated the contact and volunteered the information. As stated, Blubaugh even attempted to leave and go home, but Schwab insisted that if given just a little bit more time he could lead them to the body. Consequently, even if it could somehow be said that Schwab's conversation amounted to an unequivocal request for counsel, all evidence flowing from his subsequent statements was properly admitted where Schwab initiated the contact, was again informed of and waived his rights, not merely volunteered but insisted on the opportunity to provide information, was again informed of and waived his rights, and voluntarily gave another statement.

Appellee further submits that Schwab's statement to White certainly cannot be construed as an unequivocal request for counsel. Schwab certainly knew who White was, since he prefaced his statement with the fact that he knew White was a prosecutor, and Schwab had previous contact with the criminal justice system so he was well aware of the role of the prosecutor. Blubaugh testified at the suppression hearing that he made sure Schwab knew who White was (R 2577). Schwab also was well aware of the gravity of the situation he was in, since he remarked to his aunt on several occasions that this was a capital offense and he was facing either life in prison or the death penalty (R 616). As the trial court noted, Schwab's statement was at best an equivocal request, and since he was again advised of all of his rights and waived them, the evidence was properly admitted.

Even if the trial court erred in admitting Schwab's statement, it is harmless in light of Schwab's other statements

which were properly admitted and the other evidence that was overwhelming. See, Point 4, supra. See, Mendyk v. State, 545 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 1989) (where several confessions were properly before jury, admission of one or more confessions to same act, even if erroneous, must be deemed harmless beyond a reasonable doubt).

POINT 6

DEATH IS THE APPROPRIATE PENALTY.

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